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COMPLAINT AND TRIAL DEMAND 

 

 

COMES NOW, Mr. ELLIS ATHANAS, by and through counsel, for his C.R.S. § 13-21-

131(1) Deprivation of Rights action against Defendants Corey Orth (“Orth”), Damon Brown 

(“Brown”), and all other Defendants named throughout this complaint (“Et Al.”), and states and 

alleges as follows as claims against all defendants: 

 

 

JURSIDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff, Mr. Athanas is and was at all times mentioned a resident of Chaffee County, 

Colorado. 

 

2. All Defendants listed within this paragraph and incorporated throughout this complaint, are 

residents of Chaffee County, Colorado. Further, each Defendant was, at the time of the 

incident giving rise to this complaint, an agent acting on behalf of either the Salida Police 

Department (“SPD”), Buena Vista Police Department (“BVPD”), and/or Chaffee County 

Sheriff’s Office (“CCSO”) in Colorado. Each of these agencies contribute manpower and 

resources to form the Chaffee County Combined Tactical Team. Defendants (“Et Al.”) to 

this complaint includes (but may not be limited to) the following persons, listed by main 

agency of employment: 

a. Salida Police Department (SPD) – Sergeant Corey Orth (“Orth”), Sergeant Nick 

Tolsma (“Tolsma”), Officer CJ Meseke (“Meseke”), Officer Aidan Osborn 

(“Osborn”), Officer Dakoda DeFurio (“DeFurio”). 



b. Buena Vista Police Department (BVPD) – Officer Jesse Mitchell (“Mitchell”), 

Corporal Krzystof Marusarz, (“Marusarz”). 

c. Chaffee County Sheriff’s Office (CCSO) – Sergeant Jesse Cortese (“Cortese”), 

Sergeant William Plackener (“Plackener”), Deputy Jesse Sanderlin (“Sanderlin”), 

Deputy Damon Brown (“Brown”), Deputy Sean Hayes (“Hayes”), Deputy Donny 

Smith (“Smith”), Deputy Adam Bensinger (“Bensinger”). 

d. “Contact Team/Assault Team” – Defendant Orth, Defendant Brown, Defendant 

Hayes, Defendant Sanderlin, Defendant Mitchell, Defendant Osborn. 

 

INTRODUCTION 

3. “We’re going to roll the SWAT team on his ass.” Sergeant Jesse Cortese boasts over the 

phone to Jeremiah Preedy, a civilian acquaintance of the Plaintiff, Ellis Athanas. Defendant 

Cortese goes on to state that “He’s got a pretty bad criminal history, and he’s made some 

pretty bold statements to some people online.” Defendant Cortese further claims that “he’s 

got, like, kidnapping, and different things in his history.” Defendant Cortese made these 

statements as erroneous justification for the impending military style assault on Mr. Athanas’ 

person and violation of his civil rights. 

 

4. On September 8th, 2022, members of the Chaffee County Combined Tactical Team 

(“CCCTT”) were assembled to execute a warrant that had been issued earlier that day for the 

arrest of the Plaintiff, Mr. Ellis Athanas. This warrant was related to a report made on 

September 3rd, 2022 by Samantha Tucker, in which she alleged that Mr. Athanas had made 

threatening statements to her and had squeezed their child too hard sometime approximately 

four weeks prior to making the report. Based on these allegations, the aforementioned 

misdemeanor arrest warrant issued several days later.  Defendant Orth, in conjunction with 

others, made the decision to conduct a “vehicle assault” on Mr. Athanas as he returned home 

from the gym. At around 8:00 p.m. on September 8th, 2022, the CCCTT S.W.A.T. van pulled 

behind Mr. Athanas’ truck. Six officers in full military gear poured out of the back of the 

vehicle, weapons drawn, and approached Mr. Athanas’ truck from behind. Then, without 

cause, need, reason, or warning, Defendant Brown “deployed a flash sound diversionary 

device”, or percussion grenade, at the driver’s window of Mr. Athanas’ truck. A stunned, but 

otherwise cooperative, Mr. Athanas was then pulled from the truck, taken to the ground, and 

handcuffed.  

5. Defendant Brown violently and without justification assaulted Mr. Athanas despite his 

compliance with officer commands and a lack of apparent threat to the officers. Defendant 

Orth and others both contributed to this assault on Mr. Athanas, and failed to intervene in 

Defendant Brown’s initial unlawful use of excessive force. Defendants individually and 

collectively violated internal law enforcement policies, state law, as well as Mr. Athanas’ 

rights.  



6. Plaintiff brings this action against all defendants for violations of his rights secured in Article 

II of the Colorado Constitution, pursuant to C.R.S. § 13-21-131, as well as constitutional and 

statutory violations pursuant to C.R.S. § 18-8-802 and C.R.S. § 18-1-707, and The Bill of 

Rights of the United States Constitution pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 

RECITATION OF FACTS 

7. On September 2nd, 2022, Mr. Athanas called Buena Vista Police to report an assault in which 

he was struck multiple times with a cooking pan by his partner Samantha Tucker.  When 

police arrived, they observed a cooking pan on the floor of the kitchen and multiple fresh, 

visible wounds on Mr. Athanas’s head and arms.  Mr. Athanas reported that he and Ms. 

Tucker had gotten into an argument and she hit him multiple times with the pan.  Ms. Tucker 

denied that anything physical had happened between them, despite the obvious, fresh injuries 

to Mr. Athanas.  Mrs. Tucker also informed officers that she was currently working with a 

victim’s advocate based on other incidents of violence with Mr. Athanas.  A simple, routine 

criminal history clearance through dispatch would have revealed this statement to be patently 

false as Mr. Athanas has no criminal history in Colorado, and limited/minor criminal history 

from out of state. However, this routine check was not done.  In a baffling police decision 

contrary to all of the physical evidence, Mr. Athanas was arrested for False Reporting to 

Authorities. This case became Chaffee County case 22M5021.  On November 29th, 2022, this 

case was dismissed with prejudice by the 11th Judicial District Attorney’s office based on a 

complete lack of evidence to support the charges.  The case has since been sealed.  Of 

particular importance, the Probable Cause Affidavit in 22M5021 indicates that Mr. Athanas 

was arrested completely without incident by the two uniformed officers that responded to the 

call. 

8. On September 3rd, 2022, members of the Buena Vista Police Department began investigating 

an allegation made by Samantha Tucker about the Plaintiff, Ellis Athanas. Ms. Tucker told 

police that, on an unspecified date approximately four weeks prior, Mr. Athanas had 

allegedly made threatening statements to her and allegedly squeezed their four-year-old child 

“too hard” when he picked her up. Little other information was provided, and the allegations 

regarding the child could not be verified through the young child herself. However, Ms. 

Tucker claimed she was making the report at that time due to the fact that Mr. Athanas was 

then currently in police custody. As discussed above, other members of law enforcement had 

contacted and arrested Mr. Athanas on September 3rd, 2022, without any issue or incident. 

With this information in hand, on September 8th, Amber Lee of the BVPD drafted an 

affidavit of probable cause for the issuance of an arrest warrant, which was granted that same 

day and led to the incident giving rise to this complaint.  

9. On the evening of September 8th, 2022, Defendant Cortese contacted Defendant Orth in order 

to oversee the CCCTT ‘takedown’ of Mr. Athanas. Despite the fact that law enforcement had 

contacted and detained Mr. Athanas just five days prior, without any issue, and with only two 

officers, Defendants collectively decided to conduct a ‘vehicle takedown’ by show of brute 

force and the military might of the CCCTT. Defendants allegedly completed a SWAT 

deployment worksheet, and claim that the score met the threshold for such action. However, 



discovery provided only shows an incomplete worksheet that does not appear to accurately 

reflect Mr. Athanas’ actual criminal history. Mr. Athanas had no previous criminal history in 

Colorado before the law enforcement contacts described herein, and a review of his out-of-

state history shows no convictions for anything other than marijuana possession. Defendant 

Cortese claims, on body camera footage, that Mr. Athanas has “got a fucking history” and 

“has kidnapping and different things” on his record. However, Mr. Athanas has never been 

convicted of any such crime. 

10. Surveillance conducted on Mr. Athanas showed that he would be going to, and presumably 

returning home from the gym that evening, and the decision was made to stop and arrest him 

during this time period. AT LEAST fifteen (15) officers – Defendants listed above and 

throughout - were gathered, prepped, and utilized for this ‘operation’. Defendants received 

information from Bill Lockett, a civilian, that Mr. Athanas arrived at the gym at 6:47 p.m. 

Defendants loaded into the CCCTT S.W.A.T. truck and staged for the ‘takedown’ near the 

gym. At 7:49 p.m., Mr. Athanas left the gym, got into his truck, and began to drive home. As 

Mr. Athanas passed the staging point, he noticed the S.W.A.T. truck, and additional law 

enforcement vehicles.  As he pulled out of the gym parking lot, he noticed the S.W.A.T. 

truck begin moving in his direction, so he pulled over to move out of its way.  It was only 

after Mr. Athanas pre-emptively pulled over that the S.W.A.T. truck activated the emergency 

lights and got behind Mr. Athanas’ truck. Per Defendants’ collective reports, Mr. Athanas 

was ‘looking in his rearview mirror’. Then the ‘assault team’ (noted above) poured out of the 

back of the S.W.A.T. truck, fully armed and weapons drawn, and approached Mr. Athanas’ 

truck from behind. The team consisted of approximately FIFTEEN (15) officers armed with 

assault rifles and dressed in head-to-toe military tactical gear.  The body camera footage 

shows an ordeal resembling a tactical maneuver used in a war zone and is a shocking display 

of force. 

11. Though difficult to see, Mr. Athanas has both of his hands out of the driver’s side window in 

a show of compliance.   

 



 

12. As Defendants collectively reached the rear of Mr. Athanas’ truck, Defendant Brown 

suddenly detonated a “flash sound diversionary device” at the front of the cab of the truck. 

Mr. Athanas was still simply looking in his rearview mirror at the ‘assault team’ approach. 

No warnings or commands were given prior to Defendant Brown’s violent action against Mr. 

Athanas. Defendants then swarmed the truck, pulled Mr. Athanas from the driver’s seat and 

took him to the ground. Mr. Athanas was handcuffed and arrested. 

 

 

 



13. Once the Defendants secured Mr. Athanas, he was turned over to Defendant Marusarz for 

transport. At some point after his arrest, Mr. Athanas started feeling nauseous, had a severe 

headache, and was having difficulty keeping himself awake. Defendants brought Mr. 

Athanas to the hospital for medical clearance. Mr. Athanas was barely able to get out of the 

police vehicle and collapsed in the parking lot. He required the assistance of a wheelchair to 

get into the emergency department. Mr. Athanas was diagnosed with a concussion prior to 

his clearance for booking.  

 

 

DEFENDANTS ACTIONS WERE A VIOLATION OF INTERNAL POLICIES 

AND STATE LAW 

14. C.R.S. § 18-1-707(1) unambiguously states that “Officers, in carrying out their duties, shall 

apply nonviolent means, when possible, before resorting to the use of physical force. An 

officer may use physical force only if nonviolent means would be ineffective in effecting an 

arrest, preventing an escape, or preventing an imminent threat of serious bodily injury or 

death to the officer or another person.” The statute further describes when violent physical 

force may be utilized by police officers. A cursory review of this law reveals that none of the 

justifications for use of force were present in this violent assault on Mr. Athanas. The BVPD 

policy also specifically includes section 203.2.2.2 “Fourth amendment Right: freedom from 

unnecessary force when arrested” 

15. BVPD policy 209 is the relevant use of force policy and states “Officers, in carrying out their 

duties, shall apply nonviolent means, when possible, before resorting to the use of physical 

force. An officer may use physical force only if nonviolent means would be ineffective in 

effecting an arrest, preventing an escape, or preventing an imminent threat of serious bodily 

injury or death to the officer or another person.” This language mirrors 18-1-707 verbatim.  

Part V of this Section 209 describes “factors used to determine the reasonableness of force”: 

a.  Immediacy and severity of the threat to officers or others.  



b. The conduct of the individual being confronted, as reasonably perceived by the 

officer at the time.  

c. Officer/subject factors (age, size, relative strength, skill level, injuries sustained, level 

of exhaustion or fatigue, the number of officers available vs. subjects).  

d. The effects of drugs or alcohol.  

e. Subject’s mental state or capacity.  

f. Proximity of weapons or dangerous improvised devices.  

g. The degree to which the subject has been effectively restrained and his/her ability to 

resist despite being restrained.  

h. The availability of other options and their possible effectiveness, especially 

nonviolent means or lesser degrees of force.  

i. Seriousness of the suspected offense or reason for contact with the individual and 

limits on deadly physical force to effectuate an arrest for felonies involving conduct 

including the use of threatened use of deadly physical force.  

j. Training and experience of the officer.  

k. Potential for injury and level of injury to officers, suspects and others and limiting the 

degree of force consistent with the minimization of injury to others.  

l. Whether the person appears to be resisting, attempting to evade arrest by flight or is 

attacking the officer.  

m. The risk and reasonably foreseeable consequences of escape.  

n. The apparent need for immediate control of the subject or a prompt resolution of the 

situation.  

o. Whether the conduct of the individual being confronted no longer reasonably appears 

to pose an imminent threat to the officer or others.  

p. Prior contacts with the subject or awareness of any propensity for violence.  

q. Any other exigent circumstances. 

16. When these officers used physical force, specifically the percussion grenade against Mr. 

Athanas, literally none of the factors outlined were present.  Mr. Athanas had pulled over to 

the side of the road voluntarily, he was compliant, he was not attempting to flee, the warrant 

was for a non-violent misdemeanor offense, he had no criminal history, and perhaps most 

importantly Mr. Athanas had been arrested without incident by the very police department 

engaging in this wildly excessive use of force. Most shockingly, Mr. Athanas was given no 



opportunity to be taken into custody without the use of force, as the concussion grenade was 

fired by Defendant Brown immediately upon approaching his truck. 

17. BVPD policy 209 Section 3.1.1 states that officers should not use physical force to 

apprehend a person that is suspected of only a minor or non-violent offense. As discussed 

throughout, the warrant that issued for Mr. Athanas’ arrest was for non-violent misdemeanor 

allegations that were later dismissed with prejudice and sealed. 

18. BVPD policy 209 also contains a “Use of Force Paradigm”, breaking down police encounters 

into six different types of categories, and outlining proper police encounter techniques for 

each category of encounter. For a “compliant” encounter, “the mere presence of an officer 

will be sufficient to persuade most individuals to follow an officer’s direction”.  Mr. Athanas 

was compliant, pulling over voluntarily and waiting for direction that never came, as the 

situation was escalated immediately by Defendant Brown upon contact. Defendants skipped 

all the way to the 5th level of encounter, treating Mr. Athanas as if he was beyond 

“combative”, to “assaultive” towards officers, which could justify a display and use of force 

as exhibited against Mr. Athanas on September 8th, 2022. This level of encounter is just 

below the “Deadly Force” encounter. 

19. BVPD policy 209 Section III(6) states that an officer SHALL identify himself as a peace 

officer and give clear verbal warning of intent to use firearms or other deadly physical force 

with sufficient time for the warning to be observed”. Absolutely no identification or warning 

was given to Mr. Athanas before Defendant Brown violently detonated a percussion grenade 

just inches from Mr. Athanas’ head. Mr. Athanas’ obviously had no opportunity to comply 

with any warnings as none were given. 

20. Finally, the use of a percussion grenade is not a weapon that is approved in BVPD policy.  In 

fact, this extremely dangerous weapon isn’t even mentioned in the BVPD policy manual, 

indicating that it is not an approved type of force nor something that the Department has 

provided any training on.   

21. On September 23rd, 2022, The Chaffee County Times printed an article about Mr. Athanas’s 

arrest, titled “BVPD aids tactical team in high-risk arrest.”  In the article, Buena Vista Police 

Chief Dean Morgan thanked his officers “for their assistance with this situation, and 

commend their professionalism and commitment to public safety.”  Of course, Chief Morgan 

made no mention of the circumstances of Mr. Athanas’s arrest, the factors considered in 

engaging the SWAT team, nor the fact that Mr. Athanas was not even given an opportunity 

to be taken into custody without the use of violence by the BVPD SWAT Team.  The article 

also contains numerous pieces of misinformation, presumably from the BVPD such as “the 

arrest was considered high risk due to Athanas’s criminal history and other factors.” 

SUBSEQUENT CASES 

22. On September 22nd 2022, in Chaffee County Case 22DR30031, Chief Judge Patrick Murphy 

made findings that Ms. Tucker’s allegations that Mr. Athanas had engaged in abuse towards 

the children and made threats towards her, the very allegations upon which 22M339 was 

based, and the entirety of the evidence in that case, to be unfounded.  Judge Murphy’s 



findings were based on sworn testimony of both Ms. Tucker and Mr. Athanas.  Of course, a 

criminal allegation must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, however Ms. Tucker’s 

allegations could not even be proven by a preponderance of the evidence. 

23. On November 29th, 2022, Chaffee County Cases 22M5021 and 22M339 were both dismissed 

with prejudice after the District Attorney reviewed the complete lack of evidence in both 

cases.   

 

COUNT ONE-CIVIL ACTION FOR DEPRIVATION OF RIGHTS UNDER C.R.S. §13-

21-131 

Article II Section 7 of the Colorado Constitution- Excessive Force 

(against Defendants Brown, Orth, Et al.) 

 

24. Plaintiff hereby incorporates all other paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

 

25. When Defendant Brown suddenly, violently and without justification physically attacked Mr. 

Athanas by firing a percussion grenade at his truck and detonating it just inches from Mr. 

Athanas’ face, as set forth above, he assaulted Mr. Athanas, employing excessive force, in 

violation of Article II Section 7 of the Colorado Constitution. 

 

26. When Defendants Orth, Et al. suddenly, violently and without justification conducted a 

“vehicle assault” SWAT team takedown on a compliant civilian, they physically attacked Mr. 

Athanas as described above, assaulted Mr. Athanas by employing excessive force, in 

violation of Article II Section 7 of the Colorado Constitution. 

 

27. No officer (other than those unquestioning officers involved here) would consider Defendant 

Brown’s deployment of a percussion grenade upon Mr. Athanas to have been reasonable or 

justified under the circumstances.  Additionally, Defendants’ actions were in blatant 

disregard for their own agency’s policies. 

 

28. Buena Vista Police Department Standard Operating Procedures Section 204 Rules of 

Conduct Part 2.10 states: “Employees, when making a lawful arrest, shall not use more force 

than necessary in effecting the arrest or in dealing with any person, and shall not subject such 

person to more restraint than is necessary for his arrest or detention.” 

 

29. Defendants’ physical assault on Mr. Athanas was unnecessary and unreasonable. When the 

CCCTT approached Mr. Athanas, he had pulled his vehicle over to the side of the road, was 

complying with officer orders, and was simply “looking in his rearview mirror”. Then, 

without warning, reason, cause, or need, Defendant Brown detonated the percussion grenade 

mere inches from Mr. Athanas’ face, essentially rendering him unconscious. Multiple 

supervisors were present on scene, including Defendant Orth as a primary member of the 

‘assault team’, had both the opportunity and duty to intervene and prevent Defendant Brown 

from his violent aggression towards Mr. Athanas, but failed to do so.  In fact, Defendant 

Brown’s possession and immediate use of the percussion grenade, as well as his position at 



the front of the assault team, strongly indicate that it was pre-planned by all Defendants to 

use that weapon against Mr. Athanas. 

 

30. Article II Section 7 of the Colorado Constitution forbids unreasonable seizures, which 

includes seizures carried out with excessive force, like this one. Defendants effected this 

assault and injuries to Mr. Athanas with deliberate indifference to his rights. 

 

31. Defendants’ unjustified and violent seizure and assault upon Mr. Athanas caused him to 

experience great physical pain, injury, terror and exposed him to great risk of death.  This 

experience continues to cause Mr. Athanas trauma and emotional distress, along with lasting 

physical injuries. Defendants’ actions constituted a further violation of Mr. Athanas’ rights 

secured in Article II sections 3, 7, 18, and 25 of the Colorado Constitution. 

 

32. Plaintiff further seeks injunctive relief against Defendants Brown, Orth, Et al. prohibiting 

them from maintaining P.O.S.T. certification. C.R.S. § 13-21-131(1) authorizes this court, 

upon a finding of Defendants’ liability, to order “legal or equitable or any other appropriate 

relief.”  Plaintiff believes this injunctive relief, in the form of revoking Defendants’ P.O.S.T. 

certification, would be particularly appropriate in this action, not only as a sanction for 

unlawful behavior, but also in an effort to protect the community from similar injury.   

 

 

COUNT TWO - CIVIL ACTION FOR BREACH OF DUTY TO INTERVENE IN 

EXECSSIVE FORCE, IN VIOLATION OF C.R.S. § 18-8-802 AND PURSUANT 

TO C.R.S. §13-21-131 

Article II Section 7 of the Colorado Constitution - Excessive Force 

(against Defendants Orth, Et al.) 

 

33. Plaintiff hereby incorporates all other paragraphs of the Complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

 

34. Plaintiff further brings a Breach of Duty to Intervene action against Defendants Orth, Et al., 

pursuant to C.R.S. § 18-8-802 and C.R.S. § 13-21-121.  As alleged herein, Orth and others 

failed to intervene in the assault perpetrated by Brown and other members of CCCTT. Said 

actions thus constitute a further and additional violation of Mr. Athanas’ constitutional rights 

in Article II sections 3, 7, 18, and 25 of the Colorado Constitution.  

 

35. Plaintiff was damaged and injured by Orth, Et al.’s, intentional failure to intervene and stop 

Brown’s initial assault.  As the highest-ranking member of the ‘assault team’, Defendant 

Orth had the actual authority and duty to prevent Brown from his assault of Mr. Athanas. 

Various other supervisory officers failed in this regard as well. However, Orth did not 

prevent the assault, but chose instead to contribute to the assault. Defendant Orth, Et al.’s, 

actions directly and proximately contributed to the unconstitutional search and seizure of Mr. 

Athanas, and directly and proximately resulted in his incarceration, bond supervision costs, 

travel expenses, and caused him physical and emotional pain and suffering.  Again, 

Defendant Brown’s possession and immediate use of the percussion grenade, as well as his 

position at the front of the assault team, strongly indicate that it was pre-planned by all 

Defendants to use that weapon against Mr. Athanas. 



 

36. Plaintiff further seeks injunctive relief against Defendants Orth, Et al., prohibiting them from 

maintaining P.O.S.T. certification. C.R.S. § 13-21-131(1) authorizes this court, upon a 

finding of Defendants’ liability, to order “legal or equitable or any other appropriate relief.”  

Plaintiff believes this injunctive relief, in the form of revoking Defendants’ P.O.S.T. 

certification, would be particularly appropriate in this action, not only as a sanction for 

unlawful behavior, but also in an effort to protect the community from similar injury.   

 

 

 

COUNT THREE- CIVIL ACTION FOR DEPRIVATION OF RIGHTS, 

PURSUANT TO C.R.S. § 13-21-131 

Article II Sections 7 and 25 of the Colorado Constituion- Malicious 

Prosecution (22M5021) 

(against Defendant Marusarz) 

 

37. Plaintiff hereby incorporates all other paragraphs of this Complaint contained herein above. 

 

38. As described above, on September 2nd, 2022, Mr. Athanas called Buena Vista Police to report 

an assault in which he was struck multiple times with a cooking pan by his partner, Samantha 

Tucker.  When Officer Marusarz arrived, he observed a cooking pan on the floor of the 

kitchen and multiple fresh, visible wounds on Mr. Athanas’s head and arms.  Mr. Athanas 

reported that he and Ms. Tucker had gotten into an argument and she hit him multiple times 

with the pan.  Despite the obvious, fresh injuries to Mr. Athanas, and lack of evidence that 

may have contradicted his claims, the Marusarz made the decision to arrest Mr. Athanas for 

“false reporting”. Further, despite the outrageous decision to detain him instead of Ms. 

Tucker, these Marusarz had absolutely no issues during their detainment and arrest of Mr. 

Athanas. 

 

39. No warrant for the arrest of Mr. Athanas existed when Defendant arrested him and 

transported him to the Chaffee County Jail, where he was held in custody for approximately 

two days.  Additionally, no probable cause existed for a warrantless arrest of Plaintiff for any 

offense at any time.  In fact, Marusarz’s decision to arrest Mr. Athanas was made in complete 

disregard to the obvious and apparent evidence clearly demonstrating that Mr. Athanas was 

the victim of an assault. 

 

40. Mr. Athanas’s criminal case, Chaffee County case 22M5021 was dismissed with prejudice by 

the 11th Judicial District Attorney’s office based on a complete lack of evidence to support 

the charges on November 29th, 2022. 

 

41. Defendants’ conduct resulted in the unconstitutional search and seizure of Plaintiff, and 

directly and proximately resulted in his incarceration, bond supervision costs, travel 

expenses, and caused him physical and emotional pain and suffering.   

 

 

 



WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for a judgment against Defendants for such sum that will fairly 

and adequately compensate Plaintiff for his damages, injunctive relief, punitive damages, and for 

such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper under the circumstances, and for 

his attorneys fees, costs incurred and expended.  

Plaintiff requests a jury trial.  

 

 

/s/ Kevin Mehr 

KEVIN MEHR, #49108 

Mehr Law PLLC 

Kevin.mehr@mehrlawcolorado.com 

 

Dated:  February 23, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


